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INTRODUCflONANDBACKGROUND 

1. Summary 

The Ethics Committee found that the respondent acted unethically regarding his misleading 
testimony in 1he Gutweiler case and his failure to later correct bis testimony, bis sub~ence to 
the wishes of the prosecutors regarding the contents of his reports, and his conclusions in one of 
his reports that were not based on sound science. His misleading testimony and f.tulty reports in 
part lead to a prolonged investigation. charges of capital murder, and the incarceration of 
Gutweiler. The Committee recommends that the respondent be expelled from the Academy. 

2. Investigative Predicate 
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This matter came before the Ethics Committee (Committee) because of an ABC 20/20'~ 
investigative report on May 7, 2010, entitled Burned, a copy of which was received by the 

Committee.1 The Committee also received an anonymous and undated written complaint 

alleging ethical yiolations by John D. DeHaan (respondent) related to the ABC 20/20~ 
investigation. The complaint was reviewed by the Committee and determined to be within its 

jurisdiction. AAFS Bylaws, Article IT, Section5b; Policy and Procedure Manual (PPM), Section 

6.4.2.3 (20 I 4). Probable cause was found to believe the allegations were well follllded and a 

case was opened. Id. Dr. Barbara E. L.Jewellyn was appointed to the Committee as the Chair of 

the Crirninalistics Section, by virtue of the respondent's membership in that section. AAFS 
Bylaws, Article V, Section la.l.(b); PPM, Section 6.4.2.3 (2014). 

The Committee opened the matter to investigate alleged violations of Article II, Section Ia. of 
the Code of Ethics and Conduct of the Academy. Copies of the ABC 20/20® program,2 the 

anonymous complaint, and the Ethic Committee's Rules and Procedures were incorporated into 

the notification of the Committee's investigation mailed to respondent on February 8, 2012. 

PPM, Section 6.4.2.3. (2014). The respondent filed an answer dated May 31, 2012. A hearing 
was held at the Academy annual meeting in Washington, DC, on Tuesday, February 19, 2013. 

An additional response from the respondent dated March 1, 2013, was received and considered 

by the Committee. The Committee met again to consider this case on February 17, 2014. The 

Committee felt that there might be a need for an additional hearing in the matter, but determined 

at its February 17, 2014, meeting that an additional hearing was not needed. In addition to the 

testimony of respondent Dr. De Haan and witness/expert John Lentini at the Committee's hearing 
in February 2013, extensive professional reference materials and publications were examined. 

The Committee submitted a written report to President Dan Martell on April 8, 2014. On June 4, 

2014, The Board requested the Committee to modify its notification to the respondent 

concerning the submission of a report to the Board by sending him a copy of the report and 
asking him to respond to the Board. The respondent responded to President Martell on June 18, 
2014. 

On October 30, 2014, the Committee received a copy ofa motion passed by the Board of 
Directors remanding this case back to the Committee. The motion read as follows: 

MOTION: To remand Ethics case 2012-2 to the Ethics Committee for further 

consideration. The Ethics Committee shall consult with a fire investigator to 

be agreed upon by the Ethics Committee and the Respondent. The Ethics 

Committee shall conduct any additional investigation deemed appropriate by the 

1 The Committee may institute an inquiry based on any evidence that comes to its attention by any means which in 
its opinion requires further action. AAFS Bylaws, Article II, Section 4b. 
2 The ABC program failed to include significant facts that had caused the respondent to come to a different 
conclusion in his third report. In what was aired by ABC, the prosecutor also failed to accurately recite what he 
knew about the writing of the third report. We do not know whether the prosecutor intentionally misled the editor. 
or whether the editor deleted the information from the interview which was televised. 
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Ethics Committee or requested by the consulting fire investigator after review of 
all 2012-2 case materials in the possession of the Ethics Committee and any 
additional materials submitted by the Committee or the Respondent. After any 

additional investigation, the Ethics Committee shall, in consultation ·with the 

fire investigator, issue a report addressing the issues raised in the April 8, 
2014, report and in the Respondent's June 18, 2014, letter. 

As directed by the Board of Directors, the Committee enlisted a non-Academy expert who was 
acceptable to the respondent The expert, who wishes his name not to be included in this report, 
is a well-qualified fire investigator.3 The expert was given all the materials in the possession of 

the Committee, along with the Committee's report and the respondent's various responses to the 

allegations and the report. 

At the 2015 AAFS Annual Meeting, the newly composed Committee met with the expert. 4 He 
told the Committee that he reviewed all the material provided him. The expert presented his 

views on the report and on respondent's answers. He agreed with the report, however, he 
suggested that Issue Two regarding the concept of "negative corpus" be removed because it is an 

evolving issue and based on the several reports by the respondent, it was not clear whether he 
actually engaged that concept. He also suggested that the discussion regarding the July 3, 2002 

report regarding the possible use of accelerants be deleted in light of the fact that there was a gas 
can and mower next to the house. 

The Committee has removed Issue Two and its discussion regarding the July 3, 2002 report. The 
Committee also removed Issues Four and Six in order to ease the Board's concern that this case 
just involves a difference of opinion. The conclusions and recommendation of the newly 
composed Committee on the remaining issues, however, remain the same as the previous 

Committee. 

3. Background5 

3 The expert spent 15 years investigating fires and explosions for the fire service, law enforcement, and private 
sector prior to his current position as a Senior Fire Investigator in a national firm. He is a Certified Fire and 
Explosion Investigator, Certified Fire Investigation Instructor, and Certified Vehicle Fire Investigator. He bolds 
certifications as a Hazardous Mat.erials Technician and Asbestos Haz.ard Evaluation Specialist. He is a member of 
the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA): the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM 
International), serving on the E05 Committee-Fire Standards and the E30 Committee-Forensic Science; the Society 
of Fire Protection Engineers (SFPE); the International Association of Arson Investigators (LA.AI) and many state 
chapters; the National Association of Fire Investigators (NAFI), serving on the Board of Directors; the Professional 
Fire and Fraud Investigators Association (PFFIA); and the National Society of Professional insurance lnvestigalorS 
(NSPll). ' 
4 Ronald Singer and Robert Barsley replaced Haskell Pitluck and James Adcock, both of whom participated in 
preparing the original report. 
5 The background facts and procedural history of this case are taken from the following: the three investigative 

reports by the respondent prepared for the Assistant District Attorney of Rapides Parrish, Louisiana; Dr. Icove's 

report; the anonymous complaint; the December l, 2008, letter from the prosecutor, court documents; court and 
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On January 9, 2001, a fire occurred in a residence at 55 Friar Tuck Lane, Pineville, Louisiana. 
At the time of the fire, three young children (3, 6 and 10 years-old) were in the single family, two 

story dwelling. Neither the mother, Amanda Gutweiler,6 nor the father were at home. The fire 
was reported via a 911 call by a neighbor at 3: 15 p.m. in response to Amanda Gutweiler's knock 

on the neighbor's door after she returned home to find the house on fire. 

The fire department reported the house was fully involved at about 3:23-3:25 p.m. The 
responding firemen did not make an interior attack on the fire due to beat and flames emanating 

from the front and rear doors. A partial''roof collapse occurred shortly thereafter and the 
structure collapsed in on itself about 4:25 p.m. Most of the flames were extinguished by 5:00 

p.m. 

The house was a wood frame strucrure built on a concrete slab textured to resemble brick 

flooring. The ground floor consisted mainly of the kitchen/dining room, living room, t\'<o 
bedrooms (one of which was the master bedroom) and a staircase going to the second floor. On 
the second floor there were three bedrooms, two large closets, and a bathroom. The children's 
bedrooms were on the second floor . 

The bodies of all three children were found in the vicinity of the bedsprings of the master 
bedroom (first floor) along with the frame of the bunk bed and other metal furniture from an 
upstairs bedroom.7 Autopsies revealed that all three bodies bore significant fire damage. The 

cause of death in each case was detennined to be inhalation of smoke, flame and/or superheated 

gases. 

The fire was investigated by Deputy State Fire Marshals and the local sheriff's office and fire 

department personnel. They reported that all the combustible portions of furnishings throughout 

the house were destroyed by fire. 

Areas of spalled (heat damaged) concrete were found on the master bedroom and living room 

floors. Samples of soil recovered outside of the master bedroom window were examined by a 
forensic laboratory and two samples were identified as containing gasoline. No residues of 
gasoline or other accelerants were found from samples taken ftom within the floor slab confines. 

Committee hearing transcripts; State v. Gurweiler. 979 So2d 469 (La S.Ct. 2008); and materials provided by the 

respondent These facts are generally undisputed, but necessary to understand the tortured and prolonged history of 
the case. · 
0 Amanda Gutweiler was the mother of the children and the defendant in the case. She subsequently changed her 
last name to Hypes. She may now go by the name Kelley. 
7 According to defo11se experts John Lentini and Douglas Carpenter, the evidence indicated two of the children 
probably were in the master bedroom at the time of the fire. These conclusions were based on firefighters' written 
reports that two of the three children were found adhered to the floor. (Roger L. Conner, Firefighter/EMf, report of 
activities at 55 Friar Tuck Road). See Carpenter's testimony at the bond hearing, June 23, 2006, transcript page 158. 
These conclusions were in contrast to the respondent's conclusions that the three clu1dren were trapped in the upper 
story bedroom and fell through to the master bedroom along "'ith the contents of the room when the floor collapsed . 
DeHaan, Report re: State v. Gutweiler (Tioga fire), Fire-Ex File Number 01-1101 (July 3, 2002), p. 11. 
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As a result of observing spalling on the cement slab, which was interpreted to be a significant 
indication of arson by the State Deputy Fire Marshals, they pushed the remnants of the frre off 
the slab to obtain a better view of the spalling. Before doing so, the investigators made some 

observations and took photographs of the fire damage. 

The respondent was retained by the Rapides Parish district attorney as an expert. The respondent 

testified before the Rapides Parish Grand Jury before be had completed his first report on the 
origin and cause of the fire. On April 30, 2002, Amanda Gutweiler, also known after her arrest 
as Amanda Hypes, was indicted on three counts of first-degree murder. The state announced it 

intended to seek the death penalty. The state maintained the defendant deliberately set fire to the 
family home on January 9, 2001, intending to kill her three young children. On May 3, 2002, the 
defendant was arraigned, pleaded not guilty to all charges, and was remanded to the custody of 

the sheriff. 

The respondent filed his first report of investigation of the fire on July 3, 2002, concluding the 

fire "was the result of deliberate ignition of the furnishings of the front lower floor of the 
dwelling," and that "[b]ased upon the estimated fuel load of the rooms involved, the size of the 
rooms and the reported rate of fire development, multiple points of origin or the use of an 

accelerant are very strongly indicated." His report was based in part on the grand jury testimony 

of the babysitter who previously testified to the interior contents of the house. 

A Daubert hearing was held on October 27-28, 2003, at which the respondent testified on direct 
examination only. At the hearing, the defendant requested the underlying materials upon which 

the respondent based his conclusions. The court denied such disclosure and the defense filed a 
writ for appellate review of that decision. The Daubert hearing resumed on October 26, 2004, 
the respondent was cross-examined, and the court declared him to be an expert in frre 
investigation and reconstruction!· 

At both the October 27-28, 2003, and October 26, 2004, Daubert hearings respondent mentioned 
computer-assisted fire modeling conducted by David J. lcove, PhD, a registered professional 

engineer. The data used by Dr. Icove for the fire modeling were the data assembled by 
respondent during his investigation of the fire scene. Respondent provided Dr. Icove with his 

assembled information on July 16, 2003. The purpose of the computer-assisted fire modeling 

was to ascertain the most likely scenarios of the early fire development based on the respondent's 

hypotheses. Dr. !cove provided the results of his analysis to the respondent on October 17, 2003, 

but not in a report format. Although Dr. Icove's analysis did not fonn a basis for respondent's 
July 3, 2002, report, the respondent had the results of the modeling a few days before the start of 

the Daubert hearing and he referred to it in the hearing to support his own conclusions. Dr. 
Icove did not issue a written report W1til May 26, 2005. 

On December 14, 2004, after further reconstruction and fire engineering analyses of the fire 
scene, the respondent filed a second report and stated the fire "was the result of deliberate 
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ignition of room contents in separate rooms -- kitchen and master bedroom." No mention was 
made of the possible use of an accelerant. Respondent had been asked by the prosecutor to Vl<Tite 

the second report to expand on the assessment methodology of the report. 

On February 7, 2006, the defendant moved to quash the indictment because the transcript of 
grand jury testimony by the babysitter was given to the respondent in violation of state grand 

jury secrecy Jaws. The prosecutor provided the transcript of the babysitter's grand jury testimony 

to the respondent for him to have a complete understanding of the fuel load (furnishings) of the 

house, so he could render an opinion to'lhe grand jury as to the cause and origin of the fire and 

answer their questions in that regard. The trial court granted the motion to quash the indictment 

on April 6, 2006. It further ruled that the respondent could not testify in any future grand jury 

proceeding or prosecution ofGutweiler. The state appealed to the intennediate appellate court. 

When the indictment was quashed. Amanda Gutweiler was still incarcerated. Her counsel 

moved to release her on bond. At the May 8, 2006, bond hearing counsel filed affidavits by 

three defense experts. The hearing was continued until June 23, 2006, to receive the testimony 

of those experts. 

George Barnes, qualified as an expert in fire investigation, testified that the arson investigation 

did not comply with NFPA 921 8 and failing to preserve and document the scene made it 
impossible to investigate it. John Lentini was qualified as an expert in fire investigation and 

testified that the state failed to implement NFPA 921 and no one could determine the cause of 

the fire. Finally, Douglas Carpenter, an expert in combustion science and engineering, testified 

that the fire modeling conducted by Dr. Icove, a state's expert, produced incorrect data and did 

not support the respondent's conclusions as the respondent maintained in his earlier testimony. 

On June 27, 2006, the court released Gunveiler on $150,000 bond. The judge, in a document 

called "Reasons for Judgment," °\\Tote, in part, the following: 

After hearing the evidence and testimony, the Court fails to see how any evidence 

can point to this defendant being guilty of murder by arson when the entire house 

was bulldozed to the ground one day after the fire. Eve!)' shred of evidence to 

prove or disprove a possible crime was destroyed and placed in a pile next to the 

concrete slab without any documentation ... The Court finds that proof is not 
evident that an arson even exists.9 

On September 27, 2006, the appellate court affirmed the trial court's ruling regarding the 

violation of the grand jury secrecy rules. The state then appealed to the Louisiana Supreme 

Court. The Supreme Court affirmed in part and reversed in part, ruling the dismissal of the 

8 The National Fire Protection Association {1>."FPA) publishes standards, recommendations and guides. NFPA 921 is 
entitled Guide for Fire and Explosion Investigations and is considered in the conununity to be the guide that should 
be followed by professional fire investigators. 
9 State v. Gutweiler Hypes, Reasons for Judgment, June 27, 2006, un-numbered page 3. 



indictment was appropriate because of the unauthorized release of grand jury testimony, but the 
sanction preventing the respondent from testifying before the grand jury or trial court was 

improper. The decision \Vas rendered on April 8, 2008. 

On December I, 2008, a newly assigned assistant district attorney requested the respondent to 
provide a supplemental report. 1') The new prosecutor questioned the state's original theory of the 
case, exhibited a lack of confidence in many of the witnesses' statements, and learned that the 
respondent was no longer convinced that the fire started at multiple origins. 

,! 

On December 12, 2008, the respondent submitted the requested supplemental report. This third 
report contained none of the information concerning the fuel loads previously relied upon by the 
respondent because it had originated from the improperly disclosed grand jury testimony of the 
babysitter, and therefore could no longer be used. In his third report, the respondent concluded: 

Due to the limitations of the scene investigators, physical evidence and analytical 
methods, the original conclusion of the undersigned that this fire was ignited in 
several areas cannot be defended to a suitable degree of scientific certainty ... 
based on the data available, an open flame ignition source remains the only 
reasonable hypothesis ... the remote possibility that the fire was set by an 
intruder (for revenge or intimidation) cannot be overlooked. 11 

On February 17, 2010, the defendant pied guilty to three counts ofnegligent homicide. She was 
sentenced to five years, and given credit for the four years, one month, 27 days she spent in pre
trial detention. 

On March 20, 2010, the Ethics Committee of the California Association ofCriminalists (CAC) 
issued a letter that indicated respondent had violated several sections of the CAC Code of Ethics. 
Its investigation concerned sever.al arson cases including the Gutweiler case. The issues appear to 
have been similar to the allegations in this case, and one witness presented evidence in both the 
CAC and the AAFS ethics ca.5es. Unlike the Academy, the CAC Ethics Committee forwards its 
report to the Board of Directors for it to detennine if the accusations warrant a full ethics 
hearing. Although the Board was concerned over the nature of the allegations and the evidence 
presented, it voted to issue a Notice of Procedural Termination of the case which ended the 
ethics inquiry without a finding. The CAC Board of Directors did not determine that the 
respondent violated the CAC Code of Ethics. 

4. Issues Coosidered 

The following issues/findings are addressed in this report: 

10 The original assistant district attorney on the case went through a constructive contempt proceeding for disclosing 
the grand jury information to the respondent and investigators. He resigned from office. 
11 DeHaan, Supplemental Report re: Stat.e v. Gutweiler (Tioga Fire), Fire-Ex File Number O 1-1101 (2008), pp. 5-6. 
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Finding One: The respondent's opinions in his July 3, 2002, and December 14, 
2004, reports that concluded multiple points of origin existed were not based upon 

sound science. 

Finding Two: The respondent acted unethically by inaccurately bolstering his 
own conclusions and testimony at the Daubert hearing by embracing data 
generated at his suggestion by Dr. Icove based upon computer fire modeling that 
had not been validated, \Vas experimental, and did not contain accurate inputs. He 

also failed in his duty to correct''his testimony. 

Finding Three: The respondent subordinated his m.vn judgment to that of the 
prosecutor when the respondent V'.Tote December 12, 2008, report. 

Finding Four: The respondent acted unethically when he gave an opinion as to 
the origin and cause of the fire in his December 12, 2008, report that he believed 
was incorrect and in which he knowingly and intentionally based his opinion in 
part on a false representation. 

ANALYSIS 

Finding One: The respondent's opinions in his July 3, 2002, and December 14, 2004, 
reports that concluded multiple points of origin existed were not based upon sound science. 

A. Fire Development 

The respondent concluded in his July 3, 2002, report there were either two points of origin or an 
accelerant was used based on th~ timeline he developed indicating a rapidly developing and 
spreading fire. The timeline was based on a drive-by witness (Mrs. Hennigan) and the 
defendant's return home to discover the fire. 

The respondent noted in the July 3, 2002, report at page 10 that: 

Given the absence of any external signs of a developing fire as noted by Mrs. 
Hennigan at 1505 hours, and as exemplified by the failure of the occupants to 

escape or take corrective action, and the detection of fire by Mrs. Gutwieler at 
approximately 1513 hours (3:13 p.m.) as a fully involved fire, the fire had to have 
grown very quickly in the time available (less than 10 minutes). For these reasons 
outlined.above, a fire starting from a single point of origin in this structure would 
not be capable of being that large in that time frame. Such an exclusion means 
that there were multiple points of origin (with no identifiable mechanism by 
which that would be accomplished accidentally) or that an accelerant of some sort 
was used to aid the spread of the fire. 



In the same report,. the respondent concluded on page 11, in part: 

3. There was no incontrovertible direct physical evidence that flammable liquids 
were involved; however, the indicated speed of involvement is consistent with the 

use of some type of accelerant ... 

6. Based upon the estimated fuel load of the rooms involved, the size of the 
rooms and the reported spread of fire development, multiple points of origin or 

the use of an accelerant are veI)' strongly indicated. 

As early as 1995, burn tests indicated that because a fire appears to spread quickly based on 
eyewitness testimony, it does not mean an accelerant was used by an arsonist. A fire's apparent 

progression may differ from its actual progression. 12 

In an article published in 1999, the respondent reported that the fire investigation community 
learned a great deal from fire tests of furnished, full-sized rooms. He stated: 

The most important observations have been on the time factors of fire gro\.\th and 

on the production and reliability of post-fire indicators. Fire growth in a modern 
furnished room from ignition to flashover can be astoundingly rapid (a fraction of 
the time once thought to be typical for accidental fires). The presence of a 

flammable liquid accelerant does not guarantee a faster development nor produce 
higher temperatures. Post-flashover burning produces extremely high 
temperatures throughout the compartment in a turbulent, chaotic manner that can 

produce bum patters not correlated to pre-fire fuel distribution. 13 

The National Fire Protection Association publication 921 (NFPA 921) (200 I) cautioned the 

investigator about the use of eye.witness testimony of rapid fire growth as data supporting an 
incendiary fire cause. 

5.10.1.4 The rate of fire grov11th as determined by witness statements is highly 
subjective. Many times witnesses are reporting the fire growth from time of 
discovery, which cannot be directly correlated to ignition time. The rate of fire 

growth is dependent on many factors besides fuel load, including fuel 

configuration, compartment size, compartment properties, ventilation, ignition 
source, and first fuel ignited. Eyewitnesses reporting a rapid rate of fire growth 

should not be construed as data supporting an incendiary fire cause. 

The 2004, 2008; 2011 and 2014 versions ofNFPA 921 made the identical statements. 

i: See, Sanderson, L, ed., "Fire Timing Test Results: Fires May Only Appear to Start Rapidly," Fire Findings, 3(3 ). 
1995,p. I. 
13 DeHaan, "The Challenge ofFire Investigations -Today and Tomorrow," Interflam 1999 Proceedings of the 8th 
Fire Science & Engineering Conference, Edinburgh, Scotland, pp. 791-797, 793. 
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B. Scene Condition 

The condition of the fire scene is also highly relevant to the viability of the scene for scientific 
analysis to detennine cause and origin. The fire was completely burned together (Figure 1}, 
described as a total bum, and the scene totally destroyed (Figure 2). The respondent did not 
examine the scene until after the slab had been cleaned by pushing the remnants of the fire clear 
of the foundation . 

NFPA 921 (2004), Chapter 17, speaks .to origin detennination. Section 17.9 says the following: 

17 .9 Total Burns. A fire that is allowed to burn unimpeded until it self-
extinguishes due to lack of fuel can 
present unique problems to the 
investigator. This does not mean, 
however, that such fire scenes are 
not worthy of investigation. 'While 
such circumstances generally 

produce fire scenes incapable of 
origin and cause determinations, 
some will render valuable 
information when subjected to a 

systematic and thorough analysis. 

'NFPA 921 (2008), Section 17.8, which was 
added in 2008 says: 

17.8 Origin Insufficiently defined. 
There are occasions when it is not 
possible to form a testable 
hypothesis defining an area that is 

useful for identifying potential 
causes. The goal oforigin 
investigation is to identify the 
precise location where the fire 
began. In practice, the investigator 

has an origin hypothesis when first 
arriving at a fire scene. The origin 
is the scene. Sometimes, it is not 
possible to find an area or volume 

that is any smaller than the entire scene. Thus, a conclusion of the origin 
investigation can be the identification of a volume of space too large to identify 
causal factors, or where no practical boundaries can be established around the 
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volume of the origin. An example of such an origin can be a building that has 
been totally burned, with no eyewitnesses. Such fires are sometimes called total 
bums. The area of origin is the building, but in reality no further testable origin 
hypothesis can be developed because there is insufficient reliable data. 

Despite the total bum, the clearing of the slab, the comingling of the remnants of the structure, 
and the inadequacy of the local fire investigation, the respondent made no mention in the 2002 
report of the inadequacy of documentation of the post-fire scene as a barrier to further 
investigation. The respondent listed the items of evidence he received from the authorities in 
2002, some of which formed the basis of his conclusion regarding the fire gro\vth and spread. 
He said, "[t]he rate of fire gro-wth in a room (and its extension into adjoining rooms) is dependent 
on the size and shape of the room, amount of ventilation, and the nature of the combustible fuel 
load involved." 14 

Having established that principle, the respondent "estimated" the fuel load on descriptions of the 
contents of the house from photos taken before the fire, and statements of the defendant and the 
babysitter. He then stated, ''[b ]ased upon the size of the rooms, their orientation to one another, 
and the maximum likely heat release rate from those furnishing, a fire ignited in any one of those 
rooms would not be capable of spreading to involve other fuels in other rooms . ... 15 The 
respondent then concluded, "[b)ased upon estimates of fire spread rates of the furnishings 
present, observations of witnesses and extensive destruction, no single area or point of origin can 
be identified ."16 The area of origin of the fire could "only be described as the kitchen/living 
room/master bedroom of the dwelling." 17 The conclusion that there were multiple points of 
origin \Vas essentially based on estimates without attribution or underlying data to support them. 

In the 2004 report, the respondent was more methodical, using the "scientific method" outlined 
in recognized texts, including two of his own.18 In that report, he did recognize the limitations of ,. 
documentation. He pointed out that one of the problems was to "(d]etennine origin and cause in 
the absence of comprehensive documentation."19 

The lack of comprehensive documentation was again recognized in the 2008 report. He 
explained: 

Contributing to the uncertainty in any calculations or reconstruction of this fire is 
the nearly total lack of documentation of the post-fire scene. Without full 
documentation of fuel packages and location (an essential part ofa complete.fire 
scene investigation today), the reconstruction of the development ofa fire in one 

14 DeHaan, Report re: . State v. Gutweiler (Tioga fire), Fire-Ex File Number 01-1101 (2002), p. 7. 
l5fd , p. 8. 
15ld . p. 1 l. 
i1 Id 
18 The two books referenced were Kirk's Fire /m:estigaJion and Forensic Fire Scene Reconstruclion. 
19 OeHaan, Supplemental Report re: State v. Gutweiler (Tioga tire), Fire-Ex File Number 01-1101 (2004j. p. 2. 

11 



(or more) areas of origin and spread to other areas cannot be relied upon to a 

reasonable degree of scientific certainty.20 

(Emphasis added). 

rn the first sentence of the above quotation, the respondent recognized the limitation of the 
calculations he made in the 2004 report by noting their uncertainty. Of course, the lack of 
comprehensive documentation of the post-fire scene existed from the beginning of the 
respondent's investigation.21 

The Ethics Committee determined that the conclusions about the origin and cause of the fire, as 
expressed in the three reports, were not based on sound science. The home had totally burned, 

the structure pushed into a pile, and there was inadequate or non-existent post-fire 
documentation. The respondent recognized this lack of documentation and tried to circumvent it 

by relying on "estimates" of the fuel package, and the rapidity of fire development. 

Finding Two: The respondent acted unethically by inaccurately bolstering his own 
conclusions and testimony at the Daubert bearing by embracing data generated at his 
suggestion by Dr. lcove based upon computer fire modeling that bad not been validated, 
was experimental, and did not contain accurate inputs and then failed in his duty to correct 
his testimony. 

As early as 1999, the respondent wrote in a published article: 

A great deal of the knowledge and data collected from recent scientific tests has 
been used to create and validate computer modeling techniques. These have 

demonstrated great usefulness in predicting the growth of fires and the effects of 
fire and smoke as various input variables are changed. They are not, for the most 
part, capable of retroactively demonstrating what fire conditions would result in 

the particular set of post-fire indicators observed at a scene. Despite this, some 
investigators have attempted to 'prove' that a fire had to have occurred in a 
particular way or time by using a computer model to demonstrate that such a fire 
could result (given certain input factors). Even state-of-the-art tools can be 
misused. 22 

(Emphasis in original). 

20 DeHaan, Supplemental Report re: State v. Gutweiler (Tioga fire), Fire-Ex File Number 01-l lOl (2008), p. 4. 
21 The second sentence of the quotation refers to the fuel packages (furnishings). In the 2008 report, respondent was 
prohibited by the court from using the testimony of the babysitter, which had been the main source of information 
regarding the furnishings. 
22 DeHaan, "The Challenge ofFire Investigations - Today and Tomorrow," lnterflam 1999 Proceedings of the 8th 
Fire Science & Engineering Conference, Edinburgh Scotland, pp.791 -797, 791. 

17 



During the respondent's testimony at the first session of the Daubert hearing on October 27 and 
28, 2003, he used Dr. !cove's report to bolster his own testimony. The questioning in the 

follo>ving excerpt is by the prosecutor and the answers are those of the respondent: 

Q And in this case again, just recently, you have told me that \.vith your new 
companion (Dr. !cove) as far as a new publication is concerned, that there was 

some computer fire modeling that was done, is that correct? 

A Yes, there was. 

Q And did that confirm or dis-confirm the conclusions that were generated by 
you? 

A That actually confinned what I knew of fire behavior and confirmed the 
analvsis that I had made. the conclusions that I had reached based on that original 
information were scientifically even more defensible than thev were before. 

Q And you're not - well -- you went to David lcove -- is it lcove? 

A Yes. 

Q He is the individual who actually did the computer fire modeling, is that 
correct? 

A That's right. 

Daubert Hearing Transcript, 10/27/2003, pp. 128-129. (Emphasis added). 

On or about October 26, 2004, in the second phase of the Daubert Hearing, in response to cross
examination of the respondent by the defense attorney, the following was recorded: 

Q ... was that the conversation you had with Mr. Walsh uh, regarding hav[ing] 
the fire model perfonn[ed], was on July 16, 2003, as I read this? 

A That's correct. 

Q And is it a fair statement that prior to July 16, 2003, you really didn't have any 
plans, specific concrete plans that is, to run any fire modeling in connection v.ith 
your testimony in this case? · 

A That's correct . Um, it was -- it was a topic that came up uh, while I was uh, uh, 
actually co-authoring the book on reconstruction with Dr. leave. And uh, the 
idea was suggested that this would be an interesting fire to try that modeling on to 
see how-

Q \Vhy? 



A To see how -- hov; much data could be generated from it and whether it could 
be used to basically test the conclusions that I had reached. 

Second Phase Daubert Hearing Transcript, 10/26/2004, p. 57-58. 

The last answer by respondent indicates that the computer modeling was not validated for use in 
this case and was being done experimentally. One would not have to see whether the computer 
modeling "could be used to basically te~ the conclusions" if the model was already validated. It 
appears that the use of the modeling was experimental, and, in part, in aid of the book he and Dr. 
Icove were co-authoring. 

During the same cross-examination, the following colloquy occurred regarding the respondent's 
intent of having the Icove report at the Daubert hearing to corroborate the respondent's findings: 

Q Th~ fir:-1 page ufyour transmittai. or at lea;;;t the lirst page of your -- wc!L let 
me be a little bit more cleor. The second page oi"the pack.age that's S-1 is 
your letter to Dave lcove, right? 

A Yes. 

Q And it says, 'Here is the info on the Amanda Gutweiler case, Rapides Parish. 
Louisiana. The Daubert hearing is October t\venty -- is August 25th. ' That's what 
it says 

A Yes. 

Q And so you knew when you submitted this material to Dr. Icove that 
methodology ofreaching conclusions would be one of the issues that would come 
up at any such [Daubert] hearing, is that right? 

A Yes. 

Second Phase Dauber/ Hearing Transcript, l0/26/2004, pp. 66-67. 

At the Committee hearing on February 19, 2013, the respondent was questioned about Dr. 

Icove's computer fire modeling report dated May 2005, concerning the subject fire. The 

respondent explained how Dr. Icove became involved: 

MR. DeHAAN:23 I asked Dr. Icove, because of his experience in computer 

23 The Committee hearing transcript incorrectly attributes title5 to the speakers. !\fr. DeHaan should be Dr. DeHaan 
and Dr. Melson should be Mr. Melson. JI.fr. Adcock should be Dr. Adcock. This applies throughout this report 
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fire modeling, I asked him -- well. I suggested to the prosecutor that he 
contract with Dr. Icove to run some computer simulations and look at the 
spread of smoke, especially, and -- and heat, especially in terms of tenability. 
You kno•v, what conditions somebody would sense or be exposed to during 
various times of the fire. development and to test each of the hypotheses about, 
you kn01rv, what happens if the fire starts in the living room or in the kitchen or in 
the bedroom. 

DR. MELSON: He used a computer modeling process for that? 
" 

MR. DeHAAN: Yes, he did. 

Committee Hearing Transcript 2/19/13, p. 28. 

The respondent later in the hearing stated in response to questioning: 

DR. MELSON: Now, Icove, the individual who did the corroborating 
report --

MR. De HAAN: Yes. 

DR. MELSON: - is a person on --with whom you collaborate on the 
(F]orensic (F]ire (S]cene [R]econstruction [book]? 

MR. DeHAAN: Yes. 

DR. MELSON: And he was at the time that he wrote that report? 

MR. DeHAAN: Yes. He was foe -- he's a fire protection engineer. He has 
a degree in fire protection_ engineering from University of Maryland and as well 
as an electrical engineering. 

DR. MELSON: Did you see any conflict in that because he was actually trying to 
corroborate your conclusions? 

MR. DeHAAN: No. I sent him the dimensions of the room and the floor plans, 
the various versions of floor plans that I had put together, and he put that 
information into his program. 

DR. MELSON: Okay. So did you use that information in any part of your 
report, or was that just a separate one to kind of give the prosecutor some 
confiden£e that he was on the right track? 

MR. DeHAAN: As it turned out, by the time I got Dr. lcove's original 
report at the end of2005, the case was, you know, kind of staggering. And he 
hadn't actually tested a couple of variables that I would have liked to 
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have seen tested. For instance. as the -- in most of those models, you have to 
input what the starting fire was in a room, for instance. And he used a starting fire 
of a cotton mattress. which was a much different fuel package than the 
queen-sized foam mattress that I identified at the scene because the 
mattress was still there and I could see the remains of the foam. 

Committee Hearing Transcript, 2/19/2013. pp. 46-48. (Emphasis added). 

The respondent's last answer above poi~ts out that wTong information had been used for input 
parameters for the model, and Dr. Icove had not used some variables that the respondent wanted 
tested. Yet the respondent at the Daubert hearing relied upon Dr. !cove's report as scientific 
corroboration of his findings without his O\m full analysis of the test results and without a 
\vritten report. 

The respondent made several points in his 2005 article on the reliability of fire modeling: 

Accuracy-the accuracy of input data-initial fire HRR [heat release rate]. 
gro~th rate-is critical to accuracy of final result. 'Garbage in-gospel out' is 
the risk with computer models. Are data arbitrary? Are they correct for the 
scenario in question? 

Assumptions-\Vhat assumptions were made by the user to fill the gaps? 
Incompleteness of data from the scene is the major reason for most failed 
computer model attempts ... 

Evaluation/Validation-Was the model created and validated for a particular 
scenario (small fire in a big room) and was it being used here for a very different 
scenario without proper (published) evaluation? 

(Emphasis in original).24 

The respondent was not the only one to point out deficiencies in Dr. !cove's modeling. Douglas 
Carpenter testified on May 8, 2006, at Guitweiler's bail hearing. Carpenter was asked by John 
Lentini to check Dr. Icove's computer modeling.25 He testified at the Daubert hearing that Dr. 
Icove used an earlier Beta version ofC-FAST Model (6.0.0),26 a version that Mr. Carpenter had 
worked on to correct problems that existed in that version.27 When Mr. Carpenter ran the model 
with the same input that Dr. Icove obtained from the respondent and Dr. !cove used as a basis for 

24 DeHaan, J.D.," Reliability of Fire Tests & Computer Modeling in Fire Scene Reconstruction, Part One," Fire & 
Arson Investigator, January 2005, p. 44-45. 
25 Carpenter Transcript, May 8, 2006, p. 150. 
26 Also see Dr. !cove's report of May 26, 2005, p. 5, ·wherein he reported that "[t]he consolidated Model of Fire 
Growth and Smoke Transport (CFAST) model, version 6.0.0 was used in this analysis ... . • The release notes for 
the version history of CF AST indicate that the "initial release" of the nominal 6.0 version of CF AST was 6.0.l on 
June I, 2005, after the issuance of Dr. !cove's report. See, http://...,ww.nist.gov!el/fue_research/cfast-version
history.cfin. 
27 Carpenter Transcript, May 8, 2006, pp. 14&,149, and 150. 

"' 



his report, llvlr. Carpenter came up with surprising results and testified as follows in response to 
questions by the defense attorney: 

Q But while Dr. lcove may have concentrated on one aspect of that data, you 
looked at that and other things? 

A That is correct. 

Q And, but what the (sic) data ¥ou were looking at came from the same fire 
model that was created by Dr. Icove, using the data that he was given; correct? 

A The exact same input data that he used. 

Q When you ran that data, did you find anything unusual about the results you 
got away (sic) from the conclusions that Dr. Icove reached? 

A Yes. 

Q What? 

A Well, the first thing we found •vas that his model violated fundamental law of 
thennodynamics. 

Q Well, what does that mean? 

A That basically means the - the model was invalid. He -- Dr. !cove used a 
Version 6.0.0, which is a Beta version of this program. That means it is put out, 
they're developed, and then it was put out for people to use with the knowledge 
that it's not an official release by the government. So we looked at it. And the way 
the model was set up, it was producing results that were physically impossible. In 
fact, if they were possible, Dr. Icove would be probably one of the richest men in 
the world, if not controller of the universe. Because he was --

Q Because he created energy out of nothing. 

A He created energy from nothing. In other words, he had, for example, a fire in 
a bedroom, in the - in the master bedroom that was connected to the hallway, 
which was the hallway in question that Amanda [Gutweiler] has come do\Yll. The 
temperatures were higher in that hallway with no fire than - than the fire 
compartment itself.28 

Mr. Carpenter also testified that the model Dr. Icove ran would not have resulted in the death of 
the three children because the model did not produce sufficient carbon monoxide levels. "If you 
can't produce the outcome, then there -- then your input is suspect."29 In addition, Mr. Carpenter 

~s Id. , pp. 151-152. 
29 Id, pp. 152-153. 
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testified that one could not delineate between an arson or an accidental fire based upon the 
model. Thus, Dr. !cove could not have been a witness that the fire \Vas arson or accidental 
because he got both results using the same input data supplied by the respondent.30 Mr. 
Carpenter concluded: 

Q So, in effect, what Dr. Icove did do, in your analysis, was to confirm that Dr. 
DeHaan's findings could not be supported as finding an arson fire. 

A That is correcL3
: 

\\'hen the respondent sent Dr. Icove the material on this case, he knew that the results of the 
computer modeling might be used at a Daubert bearing. He also knew or should have known that 
the version of CF AST being used was a Beta version and had not been officially released. The 
modeling exercise was experimental, using an un-validated tool. By the time of the Daubert 

hearing, Dr. kove's written report had not been completed. However, not long before the 

hearing, the respondent received the modeling data from Dr. Icove. Without knowing the quality 
of the data or having the time to adequately revie\v it, the respondent testified that Dr. Icove's 
data from the C-F AST Model confirmed his O"'-n analysis. After receiving Dr. lcove's report in 
May 2005, the respondent learned of faulty input data. The respondent failed in his 
responsibility to review the data before using it to buttress his conclusions at the Dauber! 
hearing. His failure to adequately examine the data led him to misrepresent it to the court. The 

respondent's actions were unethical and in violation of Article 11, Sections la. and le. 

Futhermore, respondent also failed to notify the prosecution and the court after receiving Dr. 
Icove's May 2005 fire modeling report that he (respondent) misrepresented the impact of Dr. 
Icove's data during the 2003 Daubert hearing. The respondent was in error when he testified in 
the Daubert hearing that the report confirmed and supported his analysis. Upon recognition that 
he had misrepresented data in the·hearing, he had a duty to correct his testimony, even though 
the testimony occurred 19 months earlier. In 2005, the capital charges were still pending and the 
defendant was still incarcerated. By failing in his duty to correct his testimony, the respondent 
did not advance the cause of the forensic sciences, which includes assisting the court and the 

parties in ascertaining the truth and promoting justice. The respondent violated the AAFS Code 
of Ethics and Conduct, Article II, Section la. and le 

Finding Three: The respondent subordinated bis own judgment to that of the prosecutor 
when the respondent wrote his December 12, 2008, reports. 

In the prosecutor's December I, 2008, letter to the respondent, he suggested that the defendant's 

statements at or near the time of the fire were not reliable; that assumptions made based upon the 

witness who drove by the house and saw no evidence of fire were of questionable probative 

JG {d. 
31 ld., pp. 153-154. 



value regarding the start of the fire; and that the original fire investigators' myopic view of the 

cause of the fire was based on non-scientific conclusions. The prosecutor went on to say that 

"[y ]ou then informed me of additional studies you have conducted in the past 3 years with a 

similar fuel load to the Gutweiler home, and you indicated that your opinion has now changed." 32 

Respondent's testimony at the Committee hearing retracted what he told the prosecutor. 

DR. MELSON: So did you do any other work on the case between April '06 
and April '08? 

ivlR. DeHA.AN: 'No. 

DR. MELSON: No work at all? 

MR. DeHAAN: No. 

DR. MELSON: Didn't review any other testimony or rewrite your report 

or anything? 

MR. DeHAAN: No. 

Committee Hearing Transcript, February 19, 2013, p. 54. 

The respondent's testimony continued: 

DR. CASE: You told Shannon [the prosecutor] in the November 26, '08 
discussions that in the past three years, you had conducted additional studies 
regarding fuel load and that now, your opinion had changed. So this -- where am 
I getting that from? 

DR. ADCOCK: Well, that was also on the - go ahead. 

DR. DeHAAN: Yes. Mr. Shannon was anxious to close out this case, and he 
said, is there any justification you can use for saying that your conclusions 
about the fire dynamics in the modeling - because he was still looking at Dave 
[cove's report or evaluation - that, you know, you can use to throw question on 
those matters. 

DR. CASE: Okay. Regarding this? 

MR. DeHAAN: Yes. 

CHAiru>.1AN PITLUCK: He was looking for a way to tube the case? 

32 Letter from Michael Shannon, Assistant District Attorney to Dr. John DeHaan dated December I, 2008. 
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MR. De HAAN: Oh, yes. 

CHAI.Riv1AN PITLUCK: And you complied with him? 

MR. DeHAAN: Yes. 

DR. MELSON: I mean, so was that truthful, \Vhat you told him? 

DR. ADCOCK: Not only truthful, but was it accurate? ,, 

MR. DeHAAt'I: Yes, well, that's a -- that's a good way to put it. Am I --
you know, am I still convinced that the fire started in two separate places? Yes. 
But I -- you know, he wanted - he wanted something he could point out as 
saying this is why I'm abandoning this case. 

Committee Hearing Transcript, February 19, 2013, pp. 59-60. 

The respondent's testimony continued: 

DR. MELSON: Instead ofsa)ing you changed your mind and were not confident 
in your earlier conclusions because certain evidence was excised from your 
mind, you said it was because of additional testing over the last three 
years, which was not correct. 

MR. DeHAAN: Well, that's -- that's what he -- that's what he wanted to hear, 
basically. And that's what, as I said, he trumpeted, including. you know, 
the press release. 

CHAIRMAN PITLUCK: Does that bother you? 

JvIR. DeHAAN: Yes. 

CHAIRMAN PITLUCK: As an expert, you're supposed to tell them what you 
think as an expert, not what they want to hear. 

MR. DeHAAN: Yes. And there have been a number of, well, critiques 
offered by Mr. Lentini and his colleagues that, you know, l thought 
were in some cases on target, and I just -- and, of course, what Mr. Shannon 
wanted was a punchline --

Committee Hearing Transcript, February 19, 2013, pp. 61-62. 

The respondent fu. his third report changed his mind as to the probative value of the statements 

by the defendant. While discrediting the defendant's statements about her incursion into the 

burning dwelling in his first report to show guilt, the respondent changed his position completely 

in his third report in an apparent response to the prosecutor's analysis. 



The prosecutor, in his 2008, letter to the respondent, indicated " ... no consideration was given to 

the fact that these statements were made by Mrs. Gutweiler shortly after the traumatic loss of her 

3 children, when she was certainly suffering from the effects of shock,. was suicidal and 

medicated."33 The respondent mimicked this view in his 2008 report where he said on page 3 

that "Ms. Gutweiler's comments about the fire and her reported entry into the home during the 
fire must be considered in light of the stress and emotions of the situation. Such statements arc 

often unreliable and should only be taken as testable hypotheses." The respondent's change in 
position on this matter can only be attrjbuted to the influence and direction of the prosecutor. 

The combined effect of the prosecutors' influences caused the respondent to fail in his obligation 
to avoid professional conduct adverse to the Academy's objectives of improving the practice, 
elevating the standards and advancing the cause of the forensic sciences as required by Article 
lL, Section la. of the AAFS Code of Ethics and Conduct. Experts are to remain independent, 
impartial and detached from outside persuasion.34 The scientific mind should be immune to 
suggestion, pressures, and coercions inconsistent with the evidence at hand.35 Reports should not 
be written for the strategic or tactical advantage of a party .36 The exhibited lack of independence 
by the respondent belied his objectivity and sound judgment. The influence of the prosecutor on 
the respondent caused the respondent to materially misrepresent data on what was supposed to be 
a scientific report in a capital murder case. This action violated Article II., Section le. of the 
AAFS Code of Ethics and Conduct. 

Finding Four: The respondent acted unethically when he gave an opinion as to the origin 
and cause of the fire in his December 12, 2008 report that be believed was incorrect, and in 
which he knowingly and intentionally based his opinion in part on a false representation. 

Independent of whether the respondent subordinated his judgment to the prosecutor in 

writing his reports, is the fact that his opinion in his December 12, 2008 report was 

inapposite to his actual scientific belief as to how the fire began. 

ln the 2008 report, the respondent arrived at a dramatically different conclusion than he 

had rendered in his 2002 and 2004 reports. He reported in 2008 that "[d]ue to the 

limitations of the scene investigators, physical evidence and analytical methods, the 
original conclusion of the undersigned that this fire was ignited in several areas cannot be 

defended to a suitable degree of scientific certainty ... based on the data available, an 

open flame ignition source remains the only reasonable hypothesis ... the remote 

33Jd, second un-numbered page. 
34 See, for example, the ASCLD/LAB Principles of Professional Responsibility for Crime Laboratories and Forensic 
Scientists, Version 1.2, paragraph l. 
15 CAC Code of Ethics, 2010, IL F. 
36 ASCLD!LAB Principles of Professional Responsibility for Crime Laboratories and Forensic Scientists, Version 
1.2, paragraph 16. 
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possibility that the fire \1,as set by an intruder (for revenge or intimidation) cannot be 

overlooked."37 

The respondent \Vrote the third report at the request of the new prosecutor in the case. 

The request was communicated to the respondent by a letter dated December 1, 2008. 38 

The Louisiana Supreme Court had decided on April 8, 2008, that the information gleaned 

from the grand jury testimony of the babysitter could not be used because it was 
restricted grand jury information. No effort was made by the prosecutor or investigators 

to obtain the same information from the'babysitter outside of the grand jury, such as a 

non-grand jury interview. Nevertheless, the respondent wrote a scientific report 
excluding facts important to his analysis of the cause and origin of the fire. The 

respondent testified as fo11ows: 

DR. ADCOCK: So then two weeks, then you wrote the third report? 

MR. DeHAAi~: That's right. He formalized that in a -- in the letter 
from him on December 3 (sic), and I went back through and looked at all the 
evidence and said based on what I got left, I can't reach the same conclusions. 

DR. MELSON: So you wrote a report excluding from your mind infonnation 
that you had before that ·was crucial for your report? 

MR. DeHAAN: Yes. 

DR. MELSON: You had to exclude that? 

MR. DeHAA..1-J: Yes. 

CHAIRMAN PITLUCK:.So you didn't get any information. You lost 
infonnation. 

MR. DeHAAN: Lost data. 

DR. MELSON: How valuable was that report if it had information excised 
from it? 

MR. DeHAAN: Well, the point was that my conclusions were then I can't be 
sure. 

Committee Hearing Transcript, February 19, 2013, p. 58. 

Additional testimony by the respondent followed: 

37 DeHaan Supplemental Report re: State v. Gutweiler (Tioga Fire) Fire-Ex File Number O I-1101, (2008 J, pp. 5-6. 
38 Letter from Michael Shannon, Assistant District Attorney to Dr. John DeHaan dated December 1, 2008. 
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DR. MELSON: Was the real basis for the final report the information that 
was excised? 

rvfR. OeHAAN: Yes. 

DR. ADCOCK: So your opinion really didn't change except for the fact you 
couldn't consider certain data --

MR. DeHAAN: Based on the data I could use --,, 

DR. ADCOCK: -- of what you knew? 

NIR. DcHAAN: -- I could no longer reach a conclusion. 

Committee Hearing Transcript, February 19, 2013, p. 68. 

The report was written by respondent and delivered oo Decemberl2, 2008. Vv'hen preparing the 
report, the respondent ignored and did not consider the testimony of the babysitter as to the 
furniture in the house, which had been the basis for the fuel load used in both the respondent's 
and Dr. Icove's analyses.39 Absent that information, the respondent arrived at and reported a 

conclusion he believed was scientifically wrong.40 

Submitting a report containing conclusions that the expert does not support and believes to be 
wrong violates his duty of candor to his client and to the court and diminishes his scientific 
integrity. Ifhe could not use information relevant and critical to evaluating the fire after having 
opined using the same information excluded-but did not consider to be unreliable-in previous 
reports, the respondent should have declined to write a supplemental report. As the respondent 
noted in his testimony before the Committee, he was still convinced that the fire started in hvo 
separate places. 

Judicial exclusion of facts is not unusual in the criminal justice system. For example, the jury 

may not be allowed to hear a confession suppressed under the Fifth Amendment, or consider 
evidence excluded under the Fourth Amendment. However, those are dictates guided by legal 
rules. The respondent's report was a scientific report, and he should have been guided by 

principles of science. Ifhe could not write a report with scientific integrity, he should not have 

done so at all. What may be excluded in court is far different than what ought to be excluded 
from accepted scientific analysis, which is based on facts and science, not legal artifacts. In 
writing this report, the respondent knew the report was not being prepared for court, but for the 
prosecution's strategic and tactical advantage. 

39 Committee Hearing Transcript, February 19, 2013, p.58 . 
.io Id. p. 60. 



The respondent also misrepresented to the prosecutor and \vrote in his report that he had 
conducted additional tests since his 2004 report that raised questions as to the reliability of his 

conclusions reported in his earlier reports. The prosecutor recited in his December l, 2008, letter 
that "[y]ou then informed me ofadditional studies you have conducted in the past 3 years with a 
similar fuel load to the Gutweiler home, and you indicated that your opinion has now changed. "4 1 

At the Committee hearing, the respondent testified as follows: 

DR. MELSON: So did you do any other work on the case between April '06 
and April '08? 

MR. DeHAAN: No. 

DR. MELSON: No work at all? 

MR. DeHAAN: No. 

DR. Jlv1ELSON: Didn't review any other testimony or re\nite your report 

or anything? 

MR. DeHAAN: No. 

Committee Hearing Transcript, February I 9, 2013, p. 54. 

The respondent's December 12, 2008, report begins with the statement: "Based on additional 
review of data from fire tests conducted by the undersigned, it is the opinion of the undersigned 

that the possibility that a fire started via open flame in the master bedroom could have spread .. 
n42 

The respondent's testimony continued: 

DR. CASE: You told Shannon [the prosecutor) in the November 26, '08 
discussions that in the past three years, you had conducted additional studies 
regarding fuel load and that now, your opinion had changed. So this -- where am 
I getting that from? 

DR. ADCOCK: Well, that was also on the -- go ahead. 

DR. DeHAAi'I : Yes. Mr. Shannon was anxious to close out this case, and he 
said, is there any justification you can use for saying that your conclusions 
about the.fire dynamics in the modeling - because he was still looking at Dave 
Icove's report or evaluation -- that, you know, you can use to throw question on 
those matters. 

ii Letter from Michael Shannon, Assistant District Attorney to Dr. John DeHaan dated December I, 2008. 
~2 DeHaan, Supplemental Report re: State v. Gutweiler (Tioga Fire), Fire-Ex File Number 01-1 tOI (2008). p. l. 
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DR. CASE: Okay. Regarding this? 

MR. DeHAAN: Yes. 

CHATRMA"N PITLUCK: He was looking for a way to tube the case? 

IVIR. De HAAN: Oh, yes. 

CHAIRMAN PITLUCK: And you complied with him? 

MR. De HAAN: Yes. 

DR. MELSON: I mean, so \\·as that truthful, what you told him? 

DR. ADCOCK: Not only truthful. but was it accurate? 

MR. DeHAAN: Yes, well, that's a -- that's a good \Vay to put it. Am I --
you know, am I still convinced that the fire started in two separate places? Yes. 
But I -- you know, he wanted -- he wanted something he could point out as 
saying this is why I'm abandoning this case. 

Committee Hearing Transcript, February 19, 2013, pp. 59-60. 

Regardless of the motivation to make a false representation as to data to a prosecutor or in a 
report, doing so violates basic ethical and professional tenets. Such conduct dilutes the public's 
confidence in the honesty and integrity of forensic scientists and the community as a whole, and 
perverts our system of justice. 

The AAFS Code of Ethics and Gunduct., Article II, Section le. states: "No member ... of the 

Academy shall materially misrepresent data or scientific principles upon which his or her 

conclusion or professional opinion is based.'' The prosecutor appeared to have accepted and 

relied upon the respondent's representation th.at he had conducted additional tests which 

weakened the respondent's earlier conclusions. That misrepresentation comprised non-existent 
data the respondent knowingly and intentionally communicated to the prosecutor, which was 

then used by the prosecutor to publicly explain why he was dismissing the murder charges. 

CONCLUSION 

The respondent once wTote: 

... fire investigators have a moral obligation to do everything they can to ensure 
that their results are as accurate as possible, to present their findings in a fair and 



unbiased manner, and to take what steps they can to be sure their results are not 
misrepresented by others involved in adversarial legal proccedings.~3 

Unfortunately, the respondent did not follow his own moral imperatives. 

The fire at Friar Tuck Lane \Vas horrific. Three children died gruesome deaths. The mother was 

charged with doing the unthinkable- killing her offspring. The state and local investigators 

fol lowed a discredited theory suggesting evidence of arson and completely destroyed the fire 

scene. There was little to no post-fire documentation. The bases for the respondent's fire 

reconstruction were supported by estimates and expectations. The detennination that there were 

multiple points of origin was not based on sound science. The respondent's Daubert testimony 

included inaccurate corroborative evidence, which was negligently used to buttress the 

respondent's conclusions as to the origin and cause of the fire. 

The respondent acceded to the prosecutor's requests and subordinated his judgment to him by 

writing the third report for the strategic advantage of the prosecution. In doing so he was 
misleading and untruthful. 

Although the mother of the deceased children was in jail on capital murder charges, the 

respondent failed to notify the prosecution or the court that data he relied upon to buttress his 

opinions at the Daubert hearing were inaccurate and incomplete. He also delayed notifying the 

prosecution or court that studies published after his 2004 report cast doubt on the precision and 

accuracy of the computation tools he used to support his hypotheses in that report. 

The Committee unanimously determined by clear and convincing evidence that the respondent 

violated the AAFS Code of Ethics and Conduct, Article II, Sections la. and le. 

COMMITI'EE'S RECO'.\.lME.l'lllATION 

The Committee recognized the many important contributions that Dr. DcHaan has made to the 

advancement of fire science in this country. In this case, however, he seriously faltered. 

The Committee considered the entirety of the issues discussed above; their convergence in a 

single capital case; the impact of respondent's conduct on the judicial process; and the loss of 

public confidence in the professionalism, competency, and integrity of fire investigators. Given 

the totality of circumstances, the Committee unanimously recommends to the Board of Directors 
that Dr. DeHaan be expelled from membership in the American Academy of Forensic Sciences 

pursuant to Article TI, Section 5h. of the Academy Bylaws. 

13 DeHaan, "The Challenge ofFire Investigations -Today and Tomorrow; lnterflam 1999 Proceedings of the 8th 
Fire Science & Engineering Conference, Edinburgh Scotland, 791-797, 791. 


